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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Respondent, Maralex Disposal, LLC ("Maralex"), by and through its undersigned 

counsel, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 2.26, hereby submits its Proposed Findings of Fact and 

Conclusions of Law. 

PR<~POSED FINDINGS OF FACT 

A. M ARALEX DISPOS1 L, LLC 

I. Mara lex is a Color~do corporation doing business in the State of Colorado. 

Stipulation of Facts, Exhibits and ~estimony ("Stipulation") at~ 1. 

2. Maralex is a "pers n" as defined in the Safe Drinking Water Act (Act), and is 

therefore subject to the rcquircm< nts of the statute and its implementing regulation. !d . at ,1 2. 

3. The structure and 1anagement of Maralex vis-a-vis Maralex Resources, lnc., is 

as follows: Mara lex is an LLC a 1d has a s ingle manager, A.M. O'l lare. There are no 

officers of this LLC. In addition, Maralex has no employees. l f an employee of Maralex 

Resources, lnc. performs services for Maralcx, Maralex Resources, Inc. invoices Maralex for 

I 
that work (and materials, as apprppriate), and then Maralex pays that invoice to Maralex 

Resources, Inc. Jd. at ,122. Mara ~x does not pay any employees of Maralex Resources, Inc. 



for working on Maralex. !d. aq 23; Hearing Transcript at Page 196, Lines I I - 2 (hereinafter 

referenced as "Tr. At p. 191: 11 -

4. Maralex is a relati ly small company. Stipulated Exhibit No. 26 and No. 37. 

Maralex lost $88,000 in 2008. Sti ulated Exhibit No. 26.; Tr. at p. 197: ln. 3 - 11. Ntaralex 

made $363,000 in 2009. Stipulate I Exhibit No. 26.; Tr. at p. 199: In . 3 - 9. Maralc1 made 

$63,000 in 2010. Stipulated Exhib.t No. 26.; Tr. at p. 199: ln. 14 - 20 .. Maralex made less than 

$20,000 in 20 11. Stipulated Exhib"t No. 37.; Tr. at p. 200: ln. 8 - 18. Thus. over thel course of 

the last four years, Maralcx avera ed sl ightly less than $90,000 per year in income. 

5. Mara lex has owne and/or operated the Ferguson # 1 well at all times relevant 

to the Complaint. Stipulation at 3. The Ferguson# I Well has not paid out, i.e., t e costs of 

construction and operation of the ell exceeds the revenues produced from the well. ld. at p. 

163: ln. 25 - p. 164: ln. 2. 

B. M!<:CHANICAL lNT GRlTY 

i. THE PERM! ' FOR TilE FERGUSON # 1 WELL 

6. The Ferguson # L Well is located in what the Colorado il and Gas 

Conservation Commission has d signated as a natural gas field known as the Jg acio Blanco 

Field in Township 33 North, Rm ge 9 West, Section 32, in La Plata County, Col rado, within 

the exterior boundary of the Sou hern Ute lndian Reservation. Stipulation at ,[4. 

7. Mara! ex is authori ed to operate the Ferguson # 1 well by EPA Pefj it 

#C02101 1-06908 and is required to comply with all conditions in the Permit at 11 times. Jd. 

at ,[ 6. The Ferguson # 1 well is a 'Class lllnjection Well" as defined by 40 C.P.R. § 144.80 and 

146.5. !d. at 14. Maralex is subj ·ct to applicable requirements of 40 C.F.R. §§ 1~4, 144 and 

146 due to its ownership and/or o eration of the Ferguson #I well. ld. at ,15. 
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8. The Ferguson # 1 ell is a commercially operated Class 11 disposal we11 that 

injects waste fluids that arc broug t to the surface in connection with oi l and gas production. /d. 

at p. 26: ln. 14 - p. 27: ln. 3. It is "commercial" well because it injects other people's 

wastewater and charges them for isposal of such wastewater. !d. at p. 27: ln. 3-6. The Permit 

for the Ferguson # I Well is Stipu ated Exhibit No.2. 

9. The objectives of a UIC permit is to ensure that water injection into a disposal 

well does not harm underground s urces of drinking water or endanger them. /d. at~· 24: ln. 4-

8. 

I 0. The Ferguson# I ell disposes of something in the vicinity of 60,00p to 65, 000 

barrels of wastewater every mont !d. at p. 29: ln. 3-9. This well is considered a large injection 

well based on the amount of wate that is being disposed of in the well, placing it in the top ten 

percent of injection wells in Regio 8. !d. at p. 29: ln. 11-17. 

II. Although the Fergu on# I Well was approved for frac flow back water, Maralex 

has never taken frac flow back wa er for disposal. !d. at p. 162: ln. 9-17. All of the t ater 

disposed of in the Ferguson # I W II is coal seam produced water that is filtered by Mara lex, 

with the filters being changed 2 or 3 times per week; the injected water averages aroynd 6 000 

total dissolved solids (the EPA co siders less than 10,000 TDS as usable) resulting in extremely 

clean water being injected. !d. at 162: ln. 17 - p. 163: ln. 25, 

12. There are seven pu lie drinking water wells within a five-mile radius pfthe 

Ferguson# I Well, the closest pubic drinking water well being about one and one-half miles 

from the Ferguson# I Well. Id. at 29: ln. 24 - 30: ln. 8. 

13. While the Permit fo the Ferguson# I Well requires the well to maintain zero 

pressure in the annulus, the Permit acknowledges that there may be situations were t1c Permitcc 



is unable to maintain zero pounds n the annulus because of heating of liquid in the ~nnulus that 

may cause pressure to build up in he annulus. !d. at p. 39: ln. 4-16. 

14. Alexis Michael 0' are oversees the operation of the Ferguson til Well. Tr. at p. 

12-16. Mr. O'Hare began manito ing the annulru· pressure in late 2009. !d. at p. 20 I: ln. 2- 12. 

Sometimes the pressures he saw" re zero to 200 pounds and sometimes they were as high as 

I ,600 pounds, although he did not ee the higher pressures until2010. !d. at p. 20 1: ln. 15 - 21. 

Mr. 0' I! arc would bleed of off the press u rc to zero and the prcssu rc would not ret ur1 for some 

period and there was no flow once the pressure was bled off. !d. at p. 201: ln. 22 - p. 202: ln. 4. 

ii. CONSTRUC LON OF T ilE FERGUSON# 1 WELL 

15. Stipulated Exhibit I contains a diagram of the proposed construction schematic 

for the ferguson # 1 Well. Theca ing consists of three concentric strings of outer steel piping 

and the innennost steel pipe is call d the tubing. The innermost pipe of tubi11g is sealed as its 

bottom by a packer or packer asser bly and at the top by the well head and the area Jetween the 

inside of the outer casing and the utside of the inner tubing is the annulus. Stipulated Exhibit 

31 and Tr. at p. 31: ln. 20 - p. 33: 

16. Dennis Reimers is n engineer and is the engineer manager for Mara! x 

Resources, Inc .. Tr. at p. 130: ln. 0-23; Stipulated Ex. No. 27 (Resume of Dennis Reimers). 

Mr. Reimers testified that when M ralex was ru·illing the well, he kept the EPA informed about 

the progress of the construction an in vi ted the EPA overseeing the permitting for tht well, 

Patricia Pfci ffcr, to observe the co struction process, which she did for a week. Jd. at p. 138: ln. 

21 - p. 139: ln. I 2. 

17. Maralex made the d cis ion to using a stronger casing pipe than propo~ed in its 

Permit that cost more money and amatically improved the integrity of the casing. ld. at p. 140: 
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ln. 6 - p. 141 ln. I. Mr. Reimers ver-designed the Ferguson # I Well. Id. at 142: ln. 2 - 14. 

While Mara lex did not circulate c ment completely, Mara lex provided all EPA with all 

information regarding the cement" g and the EPA approved that the cementing in place was 

adequate to protect the well. /d. a p. 143: ln. 7-19. 

iii. EPA I NSP E T IONS OF THE FERGUSON # 1 WELL 

18. Ken Phillips and C ark Davenport of the EPA inspected the Fergusoj# 1 Well in 

2008. Jd. at p. 54: ln. 4-12. That nspection showed annulus pressure at 790 pound and the 

inspectors recommended bleedin off the annulus pressure. !d. at p. 54: ln. 20 - p. l.5: ln. 8. 

Mr. Reimers was at the inspcctio conducted in 2008 and was told to bleed off the pressure in 

the annulus. /d. at p. 147: ln. 13- 0. After bleeding off the pressure, there was no flow coming 

back from the annular. ld. at p. I 8: ln. 6-9. 

19. Nathan Wiser wor d for the EPA in Region 8 reviewing and overseeing 

underground injection well penni sand regulatory compliance. Jd. at p. 13: ln. 21- f" 14: In 9. 

As part of his duties, Mr. Wiser c nducted a routine inspection of the Ferguson # I Well on 

May 5, 20 I 0, to ascertain whethe the well was operating in compliance with the Pernit. Jd. at 

p. 40: ln. 7-14. See also Stipulate Exhibit No.8. 

20. During his May 5, 008 inspection, Mr. Wiser observed annulus pressure to be 

l, 725 pounds. Tr. at p. 41: 3-1 I . r. Wiser and Dennis Reimers discussed the poss~ble cause of 

this elevated annulus pressure and greed that it was possibly caused by heated liquid. Jd. at p. 

41: 12-22. They were unable to bl ed off I iquid from the annulus at the time of the ifspection 

and Mr. Wiser asked Mr. Reimers o call him the next day to report on the annulus pressure. Jd. 

at p. 4 1: ln. 23 p. 42: ln. 6. On ay 6, 2010, the day after the inspection, Mr. Reimers advised 

Mr. Wiser that after Mr. Reimers bed about a barrel of liquid off of the annulus that lhe annulus 



pressure was reduced to zero. !d. at p. 41: ln. 23 - p. 42: ln. 25. When Mr. Reimer bled o1Tthe 

pressure, he bled off about a barr of liquid (one barrel equals 42 gallons) and the annulus 

pressure was reduced to zero in le s than sixty seconds and there was absolutely no pow after the 

pressure dissipated off the annu Ia area between the 3 112 inch tubing and the 7 inch casing. Jd. 

atp. 145: ln. 14-21; p. 146: ln. LO 25; p. 148: ln. I 0-25. 

21. Mr. Wiser testified that the annulus pressure observed at the May 5, 2012 

inspection did not necessari ly m n that the Ferguson# I Well had lost mechanical! integrity. 

Tr. 64: ln. 7-10. 

22. Mr. Reimers belie d that the annulus pressure observed at the May , 20 I 0 

inspection was temperature relat - when the annular pressure valve is shut in, thel temperature 

increases and, based on the laws fphysics, the pressure increases. !d. at p. 146: ln. 8 0 p. 147: 

ln. 6. 

23. Mr. Wiser re-inspe ted the Ferguson# I Well on May 26, 2010, to ascertain 

whether the well was operating it compliance with the Permit. !d. at p. 43: ln. 10-119. See also 

Stipulated Exhibit No.9. During that inspection, Mr. Wiser observed annulus pressure to be 

1,840 pounds. Tr. at p. 41: 3-1 I. Mr. Reimers bled off about 60 gallons of liquid tiat reduced 

the pressure and after which thcr was no flow. ld. at p. 150: ln. 18 p. 151: ln. 3. Mr. Wiser 

and Dennis Reimers discussed th possible cause of this elevated annulus pressure ' nd agreed 

that it was possibly caused by he ed liquid. /d. at p. 43: 20-24. 

24. After that inspectio , the EPA sent Maralex a letter dated June 7, 201~, alleging 

that the well might be experienc· g a loss of mechanical integrity, but also allowing for the 

possibility that the increased pres ure might be induced from thermal heating. ld. aJ p. 43: 20-

24; Stipulated Exhibit No. I 0. 



25. By letter da led J u I 6, 20 I 0, Mara lex responded to the EPA's Jetter J June 7, 

20 I 0. Stipulated Exhibit No. I I. r. Reimers, who wrote the Ju ly 6, 20 I 0 letter, testified that 

the build up of the annulus pressu e between the May 5 and May 26 inspections was the first 

time that Maralex observed the pr ssurc building back up so quickly and was the fir t indication 

that Maralex had that there may b something more to the annulus pressure than thermal effects. 

Tr. at p. 15 I: ln. 3-8; Stipulated E hibit No. II . Maralex's July 6, 2010 letter did nr state or 

concede that the Ferguson# I We I had lost mechanical integrity, but merely set forr a proposed 

testing procedure on how Mara! ex was going to test the mechanical integrity of the well. Tr. at p. 

152: ln. 2-23; Stipulated Exhibit o. I I. 1 
26. Between July 7, 2 JO and April13, 2011, the EPA had not receiv any 

additional information from the espondent regarding the Ferguson # I well. Sti~ulation at,[ 

13. 23. Mara1ex was waiting to h r from the EPA before it undertook the proposed testing set 

forth in the July 6, 20 I 0 Jetter. Tr. at p. 154: ln. 1-12. In Mr. Reimers' experience, if was 

standard protocol to wait for a res onse from the EPA on a proposed testing proposaL !d. at p. 

154: ln. 13-25. 

27. When Mr. Reimers was handing offthe responsibi lities for the Fergu, on # I Well 

to Christi Reid, he realized he had ot heard back from the EPA and called Nathan ~iser in late 

September or early October 2010 t ask about the EPA's response to Maralex's July 6, 2010 

letter. !d. at p. 155: ln. 1-7. In res onse to Mr. Reimers' inquiry, Mr. Wiser told Mr Reimers 

"Let me sec. Something apparent! fell through the cracks." /d. at p. 155: ln. 8-12. trr. Wiser 

called Mr. Reimers back roughly o days later and verbally him to proceed. !d. at p. 155: ln. 

13-15. Mr. O'Hare did not procc with the testing proposed in the July 6, 20 I 0 becruse he 

wanted to receive a fonnal written approval of the proposed testing. lei. at p. 204: ln. [8 - 10. The 
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reason Mr. O'[lare wanted to writ en verification was because he had gotten written verification 

fi·om the EPA before about tcstin protocols. I d. at p. 204: ln. 11 - 25. 

28. Mr. Wiser transfen d his duties to inspect injection wells in Region , including 

the Ferguson# I Well, to Sarah R berts in late 2010 and early 201 J. !d. at p. 67: ln. 2 - 7; p. 82: 

ln. 23 - p. 83: ln. 6. Ms. Roberts i an environmental scientist who works in the Ul program 

for the Office of Enforcement, Co npliance, and Environmental Justice. !d. at p. 78: ln. 1-J 0. 

29. Ms. Roberts condu ted a site inspection of the Ferguson# 1 Well on pril 13, 

2011. !d. at p. 89: ln . I; Stipulati n at ,]4. During that inspection, Ms. Robetts obs rvcd 

annulus pressure of 1 ,670 pounds. /d. at p. 89: ln. 12-16. Ms. Robetts prepared an r port of her 

inspection, which is fotmd at Stipdated Exhibit No. 13. ld. at p. 91: ln. 1-7. 

30. Christi Reid is a petrol um engineer for Mara lex who took over responsi ility from 

Mr. Reimers for the Ferguson No. 1 Well in August 20 I 0. Tr. at p. 168: In. 16 - p. 169: ln. 18. 

31. Ms. Reid was pres 1.t at Ms. Roberts' April 13, 20ll site visit. ld. at . 170: ln. 

14-24. While Ms. Roberts measu d the annulus pressure on the Ferguson# I Well, Ms. Robetts 

did not bleed the pressure off ofth annulus at that site inspection. ld. at p. 171: In. - 11. 

32. After the J\prill3, OJ I site visit, the EPA issued a Notice ofViolati n. !d. at 91: 

ln. 14 - 92: ln. 7; p. 171: ln. I 1-20 This Notice of Violation, dated April 19,201 I , ·s found at 

Stipulated Exhibit J 5. Mara lex sh 1t in the Ferguson # I Well immediately after rec ived the 

April I 9, 2011 Notice ofViolati01 on April26, 2011. Tr. at 92: ln. I 2 - 93; ln. 2; p. 171 : Ln. 21 -

p. 172: ln. 4. 

33. Maralex performed a rework of the well from May 1 I, 2011 to May , 2011 and 

the Ferguson# 1 Well passed a m chanica! integrity test on May 24, 2011. Jd. at 94 In. 15 - 95: 



ln. 21; Tr. ai 173: ln. 17- p. 174: In 8; Well Rework Record and Mechanical lntegr ty Test 

(Stipulated Exhibit No. I 7). 

34. During the reworl<"ng of the well, Maralex found two loose connecti ns of tubing 

and tightened those connections. r. at 172: Ln. 12- p. 173: ln. 17. 

35. After rece.iving the results of the McchanicaiJntcgrity Test, the EPA ent Maralex 

a pennission to resume injection I ·ttcr. Tr. at 96: ln. 2-7; Tr. at 174: ln. 9 - 12. 

36. The Ferguson # l ell was operating between May 5, 2010 and ay 24, 20 II 

and the annulus pressure was ab ve zero during EPA inspections. Stipulation at , 

37. No mechanical int grity testing was perfonned during the period ay 5, 2010, 

and May 24, 2011. ld. aqll7. 

38. EPA observed an Maralex confirmed the existence of annulus pr ssure on the 

Ferguson #I well in May of 20 I through May of 2011. Mara lex contends that he annulus 

pressure on the Ferguson # I Wei during this time was intermittent and not cons stent. !d. at 

~ 18. 

iv. EXPERT OPINIONS REGAIWJNG TI-lE MECHANICAL (NTEGRIT OF 

TI-lE FERCU ON # 1 WELL 

a. 

39. ln addition to testif ing as a fact wit11ess regarding his inspections of he Ferguson 

# 1 Well, Mr. Wiser testified on b half of the EPA as an expert in the EPA's Under ·ound 

Injection Control ("UIC") progra1 , its purpose, implementation a11d regulation, including permit 

compliance; but he was not qualifi d as an expert on the operation of an injection w 11 or the 

construction of an injection well. · r. at p. 20: ln. 14-22. 
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40. Mr. Wiser has two degrees in geology, but is not a petroleum engine r. /d. at 12 

(20-23); 19 (22-25). Mr. Wiser h s never supervised the drilling of an injection well nor has he 

ever been responsible for supervi ing the operation of an injection well. /d. at p. 20

1

. ln. 1-9. 

41. Mr. Wiser acknow edged that a build up of annulus pressure docs no necessarily 

mean that an injection well has lo t mechanical integrity. !d. at 57: ln. 13-17. 

42. On direct examinat on, Mr. Wiser opined that the Ferguson # I Well had a leak 

somewhere in the well and that in its Ju ly 6, 2010 letter (Stipulated Exhibit No. 11), \Maralex 

recognized that the annulus presst re was not caused by thermal heating. Based on tt ese 

considerations, Mr. Wiser opined hat Maralex was directed to follow the steps as though the 

well had lost mechanical integrity ue to a leak pursuant to Guidance No. 35 (Stipul ted Exhibit 

No. 34). Tr. at 47: ln. 3-22. 

43. On cross-examinati n, however, Mr. Wiser acknowledged that his su~ervision of 

the Ferguson No. 1 Well, Mr. Wis r never found that the Ferguson# I Well lacked 11echanical 

integrity. /d. at 70: ln. 3-1 0; 71: h . 19-21. If Mr. Wiser had detem1ined that the Ferguson # I 

Well lacked mechanical integrity I e would have followed the guidelines and told MJralex to shut 

in the Ferguson# I Well. ld. at p. 70: ln . I 1-14. 

I 
44. Mr. Wiser also tcsti ted under cross examination there was no ev1dcnce that he 

was aware of that indicates there as any leakage from the Ferguson# I Well into t~e 
stnTounding formations other than he perforations where it was permitted to be injeled into. !d. 

at p. 70: ln. 15-20. If the EPA beli ved that there was any unpermitted leakage from the well 

into the surrounding formations, th EPA may have required Maralex to perform ret~ed iation, 
but the EPA never required Mara! to remediate the surrounding ground water. !d. at p. 71: ln. 

1-18. 
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45. The purpose ofGu dance No. 35 is intended as an. aid to UlC field in pectors, 

such as Mr. Wiser, to follow whe they observe excessive annulus pressure on injection wells. 

!d. at 57: ln. 1-6; p. 39: Ln. 6-22. Stipulated Ex. 34 at p. 1. Pages 2-3 of Guidance o. 35 sets 

forth a table entitled "Procedures o Follow When Excessive Annular Pressure is Observed." 17. 

46. Mr. Wiser testified that it is important that inspections should be stan ard and that 

the purpose and one of the feature of Guidance No. 35 is to have standard inspections. Tr. at 61: 

ln. 13-24. Mr. Wiser also rccogni cd that the reason for Guidance No. 35 is for the f PA to have 

consistent inspections and consist nee outcomes. !d. at p. 62: ln. 15-18. 

47. Guidance No. 35 i1 structs the field inspector to open the annulus for 1p to sixty 

seconds to see whether the pressu reduces to zero. !d. at p. 2. Mr. Wiser did not f?llow his 

protocol during his May 5, 20 I 0 i spcction. Tr. at p. 58: ln. 8-23. [ 

48. Guidance No. 35 al o instructs the EPA technical expert to determine whether the 

annulus pressure returns within L4 days. If it does not, then the well is considered to have 

mechanical integrity. If annulus p essurc retums, the EPA technical expert will dcst a 

mechanical integrity test and theE A compliance officer will require the operator to conduct the 

test within 14 days. Stipulated Ex. 34 at p. 3. Mr. Wiser never requested that Mara) x observed 

annulus pressure for 14 days and d d not provide Maralex with the 14-Day Pressure Monitoring 

form found at page 5 of Guidance o. 35. Tr. at 63: ln. 25 - p. 64: ln. 6. I 

49. Mr. Wiser did not fi !low Guidance No. 35 during his May 26, 20 I 0 inspection 

(Stipulated Ex. No. 9). Tr. at p. 64 ln. I L -21. Mr. Wiser did not provide Mara lex w th the 14-

Day Pressure Monitoring form fou d at page 5 of Guidance No. 35 at that inspection Tr. p. 64: 

ln. 22-24. lnstead, twelve days lat r, EPA sent Maralex the June 7, 2010 Notice of iolation 

letter (Stipulated Ex. No. 1 1). /d. t 63: ln. 25 - 64: ln. 19. There was no 14-day mo itoring 
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period between the May 26, 20 I 0 inspection and the June 7, 20 I 0 Notice of Violati n. !d. at p. 

65: ln. 20-25. 

b. DE NIS R EIMERS: 

50. In addition to tcs.ti ing as a [net witness with respect to the construe 'on and 

operation of the Ferguson # I We and the various EPA's inspections, Mr. Reimers was 

qualified to testify as an expert in etroleum engineering and underground injection ~ontrol. Tr. 

at p. 137: ln. 8-10. Mr. Reimers h s extensive experience in the construction and op~ration of 

injection wells. Tr. at p. 133: ln. 14 - 134: ln. 14; Stipulated Ex. No. 27. 

51. Based on testing o the Ferguson # I Well, Maralcx discovered that the well was 

experiencing an intermittent pinh le leak that was sporadic. Tr. at p. J 52: ln. 24 - p 153: ln. 25. 

53. Mr. Reimers opine as an expert that the annulus pressure that the well 

experienced was due to temperatu e and to temporary, intermittent leaks caused by loosing 

tubing connections that in certain ressures and certain conditions and certain hnrm+es of the 

tubing string would have a tempor ry leak. Tr. at p. 158: ln. 14 - p. 159: ln. 24. 

54. Mr. Reimers opine as an expert that the Ferguson # I WellmaintaiTd 

mechanical integrity because the I aks were "extremely minor" and there was never r ny loss of 

liquid from the annular other than hat Maralex bled off. Tr. at p. 158: ln. 14- p. I pI: ln. 7. 

c. Au: ' IS M lC IIAEL O'HARE: 

55. ln addition to testif ing as a fact witness with respect to the construct on and 

operation of the Ferguson # I Wei, Mr. O'llare was qualified to testify as an expert witness in 

petroleum engineering and the op ·ation of U IC wells. Tr. at p. 194: ln. 23 - 25. M . O'Hare 

has many years of extensive exper ence in the construction and operation oftmdcrgr und 
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injection wells. !d. at p. 178: ln. 3 - p. 181: ln. 6; p. 182: ln. 4 - p. 194: ln. 16; Stipulated 

Exhibit No. 29. 

56. Mr. O'Hare testifi d that he had no concern that the Ferguson # I Well had lost 

mechanical integrity because {I) i never had a significant leak; (2) Maralex had performed a 

number of mechanical integrity tc ts, some of which were not reported to the EPA, ' nd those 

tests gave Maralex great assuranc that there was no possible way that water could ~e leakjng 

into an underground source of wa er. lei. at p. 205: ln. I - 22. [ 

57. If Mr. O' llare thou ht that the Feq,,ruson # I Well had lost mechanical integrity, 

he would have shut in the well. I . at p. 205: ln. 23 - p. 206: ln. I. 

58. Mr. O'Hare opined that nuid from the Ferguson # I Well never migrated from the 

wellbore into the Sll!TOunding fo ations, other than where it was allowed to do so Tder the 

Permit. Id. at p. 206: ln. 2 - 9. T e basis of Mr. O'Hare's opinion is that there was rever a 

significant flow from the well that was not controlled by Mara lex, the well never fai1ed a 

mecha111ca lmtegnty test and at no tune d1d Maralex ever have to rep<lll' the 7 1/2 mt casmg and 

a failure in the casing is the only ay nuid could flow into an underground source of drinking 

water. !d. at p. 206: ln. 10 - p. 20 : ln.2. 

59. Mr. O'Hare also op ned that the intennittent leak from the loose connections of 

tubing was never significant beca e if it were significant, the well would have con!Tued to now 

event though the pressure had bee bled ofT, especially when they were injecting. Ia at p. 204: 

ln. 2 - p. 205: ln. 9. 

C. WeEKLY 0BSERVA riONS OF T HE ANNULUS P RESSURE 

60. Weekly observatio s of annulus pressure are required for the Ferguson #1 well 

by the Permit at Part Il(O)( 1). St pulation aqp. 



61. Respondent violat d the Permit and therefore the Act by failing to observe 

weekly annulus pressure measur menU; of the Ferguson #I wel l !d. at ,j8. 

62. The Respondent a its that it did not make consistent weekly observations of 

the annulus pressure but did obs rve the annulus pressure several times per mon1h and, on 

some occasions, several times pc week. Jd. at ~ 9. 

63. The person rcspon ible for making these observations was Pete Tree, who was 

terminated by Maralcx after his p rformancc was inadequate because, among other 1ings, he 

failed to monitor the annulus pres ure./d .. at p. 165: ln. 16 - p. L66: In 9. 

64. Mr. Reimers monH red the pressure at least twice a month. /d. at p. I f6: ln. 24 -

p. 167: In 2. Mr. O'Hare monitor d the annulus pressure approximately once per month. Jd. at 

p.201:1n.9 - 14. 

D. A NNUAL R EPORT! 

65. On February 18, 2 11, EPA received from Mara lex the annual monitoring report 

for 20 I 0 from Maralex that repo1 cd minimum and maximum annulus pressures ~f zero 

pounds per square in gauge fore ery month of2010. Stipulation at 19. 

20. 

66. The reporting of th annulus pressure in the 2010 report was incor ect. ld. at ,I 

A. THE EPA HAS T ilE 

SET FORTII I T II.E 

SED CONCLUSIONS OF LAw I 

UIWEN OF PERSUASION TO PROVE T HE VIOLA TI~NS 
0 'IPLAI T. 

I. The EP J\ has the b ·den of persuasion that the violations set forth in Te Proposed 

Penalty Complaint and Notice of pportunity for Hearing filed on September 27, 20 I L 

("Complaint"). 40 C.F.R. § 22.24 ). The Presiding Office shall decided this contro ersy based 

upon a preponderance of evidence. 40 C.F.R. § 22.24(b). 
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B. TilE FERGUSON# WELL NEVER FAILED TO MAINTAIN MEC IIANIC L 

INTEGRITY 

2. TheEPAallegest tMaralexviolated40C.F.R.§ 144.51(q)(l)and hcPermitat 

Part II(C)(6) Ferguson # I Well b failing to maintain mechanical integrity for the Ferguson # I 

Well between at least May 5, 20 I and May 24, 20 I I. Complaint at 20. 

3. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 146.8: 

An injection well has mccl anical integrity if: 

(I) There is no signific nt leak in the casing, tubing or packer; and 

(2) There is no signific nt fluid movement into an underground source of 
drinking water thro gh vertical channels adjacent to the injection well 
bore. 

There is insufficient evidence to c nclude that Mara lex violated 40 C.F.R. § 144.51 ( )(1) and the 

Permit by fai ling to maintain mec anical integrity with respect to the Ferguson # I ell. 

4. First, Mr. Wiser, th EPA's own expert, testified that during the time fhis 

supervision of the Ferguson # I 11 he never found that the Ferguson tf I Well lacked 

mechanical integrity Proposed Fin ings of Fact at~ 43 (hereinafter "PFF at ,!_ "). 

Significant, Mr. Wiser acknowled ed that if he thought that the Ferguson# I Weill eked 

mechanical integrity, he would ha e ordered that it be shut-in, an action that he neve took. !d. 

5. Second, Mr. Wiser s opinion that the Ferguson# I Well never failed o maintain 

mechanical integrity is supported y the facts developed with respect to each of the four 

inspections of the well. Du1ing th first three inspections, Mara! ex bled off the annut1s pressure 

to zero, the pressure did not return and there was no flow. PFF at ,118 (2008 inspecti n); ,120 

(May 5, 20 I 0 inspection: and ,123 (May 26, 20 I 0 inspection). During the 20 II insp ction, Ms. 

Roberts did not seek to bleed off t e annulus. Jd. at ,131. 
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6. Third, EPA's Guid mce No. 35 is a protocol that the EPA designed to ensure 

uniform regulatory oversight for u e by UIC field inspectors in establ ishing whether an injection 

well lacks mechanical integrity. FF at ,1~ 45- 46. Mr. Wiser admitted that he faile to fo llow 

Guidance No. 35 when he conduced his inspections, a protocol that is necessary to stablish 

whether a well needs to be tested i 1 the first instance for mechanical integrity. /d. a ~,]47 - 49. 

Thus, the EPA failed to follow its wn protocol that is required to established that th Ferguson 

No. I Well lacked mechanical int grity. 

7. Fourth, Ms. Robe ts sending of the letter ordering the Ferguson# 1 rell to be 

shut-in was egregiously unfounde because she failed to bled off the annulus pressu e during her 

site visit, but instead merely read e annulus prcssmc. PFF at ,I 3 1. As Mr. Wiser, dmitted, the 

mere presence of annulus pressur is insufficient to establish that an injection well! cks 

mechanical integrity because it co lid be explained by the effect of temperature. !d. t ~,1 13; 21 

and 41. . 

8. Fifth, both Mr. Rei 1ers and Mr. O'Hare opined as expelis that the F rguson # I 

Well never failed to lack mechani al integrity. PFF at ,1~ 54; 56-59. 

9. Sixth, as Mr. Wise admitted, there is no evidence that that any fluid eft the 

well bore and migrated into any un erground source of drinking water, let alone a "s gnificant" 

amount necessary to trigger a viol tion. PFF at ,1 43 .. Mr. Reimers and Mr. O'Hare also opined 

that no fluid from the well bore mi rated to any unpermitted formations. Jd. at,-~ 54 56; 58. 

I 0. Seventh, the amou t of any leak was minor, caused by an intennitten leak. PFF 

,1,1 at 51; 53: 56: 59. By definition, in order to have a lack of mechanical integrity, t e leak in the 

casing, tub ing or packing has to b "significant." The EPA failed to establish that t leak in the 

tubing was anything other than a 1 inor, intennittent leak. 
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II. To the extent that t e EPA finds a violation of40 C.F.R. § 144.5I(q)11) for failing 

to maintain mechanical integrity, t c amount of the proposed penalty requested by t e EPA in 

the Complaint, $99,700, is excessi e. First, Maralex is a relatively small company tr t averages 

slightly less than $60,000 per year in income. PFF at~ 4. Second, Maralex over-designed the 

Ferguson # I Well to prevent any ignificant leaks. !d. at,, 15-17. Third, the water that is 

injected into the well is extremely lean, minimizing any alleged ham1 to the underg ound source 

of drinking water. /d. at ,I ll. 

12. Maralex submits t at based on the facts recounted in Paragraph II above, the 

amount of the penalty should be r uced to $12,500. 

C. WI~EKLY 0BSERV IONS OF T il l<: ANNULUS P RESSURE 

13. While Maralex adn its that it violated the requirement for making weakly 

observations of the ann u I us pressu -c, Mara\ ex submits that the amount of the pen a It~ proposed 

by the EPA, $8,050, is excessive. aralex terminated the employee who failed to taf e the 

weekly observations of the annulu pressure and PFF at~~ 62-64. 

14. The $8,050 propos d penalty was based on a seven month duration of this 

violation. Tr. at p. 103: ln. 12-18. Because between Mr. Reimers nnd Mr. O'Hare, faralex 

made observed the annulus pressu e 3 or 4 times per month, albeit on an irregular sc?edule, the 

seven month duration is inaccurat Maralex submits that the duration should be reduced to 2 

months because of the frequent ch eking of the pressure and the fine accordingly reduced by 517, 

which would reduce the fine to $2, 00. Such a reduction would be consistent with tle EPA's 

14. Based on these con, iderations, Maralcx submits that its fine for fail in to make 

weekly observations of the annulu pressure should be reduced to $2,000. 
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0. ANNUAL R EI'ORT ING 

15 . Mara1ex admits tlha its reporting of the annulus pressure in the 201 report was 

incorrect, but this error did not im air or impede the EPA from carrying out its regul tory duties. 

The EPA knew from its own recor s that there annulus pressure for the Ferguson # I Well based 

on its two inspections held in 2011. PFF aq[,!21 and 23. 

16. Based on the fact th t the incorrect reported caused no harm, Maralex submits that 

the proposed penalty should be re uced from $3,900 to $500. 

Dated this 171
" day of Dcce 11ber, 2012. 

Abadie & Schill, PC 

Is/ William E. Zimsky 

William E. Zimsky (#25318) 
Attorney for Maralex Disposal, LL 
1099 Main Avenue, Suite 315 
Durango, CO 8130 1 
Phone: (970) 385-4401 
Email: wez@durangolaw.biz 
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C RTIFICA TE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that the ori 'ina I and one true copy of this RESPONDENT'S 
PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FA T AND CONCL USIONS OF LAW was sent o December 
17, 2012 via email (Artemis. Tina epamail.epa.gov) and by overnight delivery, to tl Regional 
Hearing Clerk, EPA Region 8, 15 5 Wynkoop Street, Denver, Colorado, and that at ue copy 
was sent via First Class Mail, Post ge Prepaid, to Complainant's counsel at the lollo ing address 
and via emai l: 

Amy Swanson 
Email: Swanson.A1 y@cpamail.epa.gov 
Senior Enforcemen Attorney 
U.S. EPA - Region 8 
1595 Wynkoop Str et, 
Denver, CO 80202 

By: Is/ WilLiam E. Zimsky 

William E. Zimsky 
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